

Safeguarding Policy

Date approved:	Autumn 2023
Approved by:	Trust Board
Next review date:	Summer 2024

Designated Safeguarding Lead: Mr. S Wright, Principal

Deputy Designated Safeguarding Leads: Susannah Woodman and Claire Rodgers

Designated Local Governor with responsibility for Child Protection: Sue Boniface

HCS Southampton Safeguarding Policy 2023_24



CONTENTS

CONTENTS	1	
1. Introduction	3	
The purpose of this policy is to assist all staff, local governors and the Trust Board to protect and safeguard all children.		
1.1 Role of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)	5	
1.2 How we help keep children safe:		
1.3 How we promote Safeguarding in our curriculum		
1.4 How we train staff		
2: Abuse	8	
2.1 How we define abuse	8	
2.2 Physical abuse	8	
2.3 Emotional Abuse	9	
2.4 Sexual Abuse	9	
2.5 Neglect	10	
3: Children with vulnerabilities	11	
3.1 Children with disabilities	11	
3.2 Children who are missing from education or home educated	12	
3.3 Children who runaway		
3.4 Children at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation		
3.5 Privately Fostered Children		
3.6 Children Living with Domestic Violence and abuse	14	
3.6 Children at risk of Forced Marriage		
3.7 Children at risk of Female Genital Mutilation	16	
3.8 Children at risk of Honour Based Abuse	17	
3.9 Children at risk of Radicalisation	17	
3.10 Children at risk from Child on child Abuse	19	
3.11 Sexual violence and sexual harassment between pupil in schools and colleges	22	
3.12 Managing reports3.13 Serious violence3.13 Child criminal exploitation: county lines County Lines:		
3.13 Children and the court system	26	
	20	
3.14 Children with family members in prison3.15 Homelessness		
4: Managing Concerns	28	
	1	

	HOPE
4.1 How staff talk about and record safeguarding conversations with children	COMMUNITY SCHOOL
4.2 How we involve other people and agencies	
4.3 Referrals	29
4.4 How we respond to allegations against pupils	
4.5 How we respond to concerns regarding staff or volunteers	32
4.6 Confidentiality and Information Sharing GDPR May 2018 Data Protection legislation 2018	
	33
5: Staff	36
5.1 How we recruit staff	36
5.2 Training	36
5.3 Whistle blowing	36
Appendix 1: Southampton Safeguarding contacts and numbers:	
Appendix 2: Safer Recruitment Policy	
Appendix 3: BRIEFING SHEET FOR TEMPORARY AND SUPPLY STAFF	
Appendix 4: Hope Community School Code of Conduct	
Appendix 5: Online Safety	



1. Introduction

As a Trust we want pupils to flourish and to gain every opportunity to live fulfilled lives. As a Christian Designated school we believe all children are unique, special and need careful love, nurture and protection in order that they may flourish.

We aim to prepare pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of adolescence and adult life in the safest possible environment. All pupils have a right to an education which enables them to flourish and is set in a learning community where differences of lifestyle and opinion (within that which is permissible under UK law) are treated with dignity and respect; bullying of all kinds is eliminated; and where they are free to be themselves and fulfil their potential without fear.

The purpose of this policy is to assist all staff, local governors and the Trust Board to protect and safeguard all children. School staff are particularly important as they are in a position to identify concerns early, provide help for children, promote children's welfare and prevent concerns from escalating.

This policy should be read in conjunction with the following DFE, Ofsted Policies and Safeguarding Partnership (LSCB) procedures:

- Working together to Safeguard children 2018 (updated July 2022)
- Keeping Children Safe in Education (Sept 2023)
- Teaching online Safety in Schools June 2019 (updated Jan 2023)
- Inspecting safeguarding in early years, education and skills settings (updated Sept 2022)
- Governance handbook (Jan 2017)
- Disqualification by association (Updated September 2018)
- Information Sharing: Advice for practitioners providing safeguarding services GDPR guidelines 2018 (updated July 2023)
- What to do if you think a child is being abused (2015)
- 'Prevent Duty' as outlined in the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 (updated April 2021), and
- Southampton Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) reporting procedures. <u>Safeguarding-Partnership-Arrangements-2022-Final.pdf (southamptonscp.org.uk)</u>

The Children Act 1989 defines a child as being up to the age of 18 years; it also defines significant harm and the roles and responsibilities of Children's Social Care and the Police.

Hope Community School recognises its legal duty under s.175 Education Act 2002 to work with other agencies in safeguarding children and protecting them from "significant harm". KCSIE 2023 recognises that safeguarding and promoting welfare of children is defined as

- Preventing the impairment of children's mental and physical health or development
- Protecting children from maltreatment
- Ensuring children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe and effective care and taking actions to enable children to have the best outcomes.

The protection of children is of the highest priority for our school. Children have a right to feel



secure and cannot learn effectively unless they do so. At Hope Community School we have a commitment to safeguard all our children and staff. We feel it is important to regularly give messages about how to keep ourselves safe.

All children regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, ability, sexuality, religion, culture, language and beliefs have a right to be protected from harm. All staff have a key role in prevention of harm and an equal responsibility to act on any suspicion or disclosure that may indicate a child is at risk of harm in accordance with the guidance.

Any child may benefit from early help, but all school and college staff should be particularly alert to the potential need for early help or are potentially at greater risk of harm. for a child who:

- is disabled or has certain health conditions and has specific additional needs;
- has special educational needs (whether or not they have a statutory Education, Health and Care Plan);
- has a mental health need;
- is a young carer;

• is showing signs of being drawn in to anti-social or criminal behaviour, including gang involvement and association with organised crime groups or county lines;

- is frequently missing/goes missing from care or from home
- s at risk of modern slavery, trafficking, sexual or criminal exploitation;
- is at risk of being radicalised or exploited;
- has a family member in prison, or is affected by parental offending;

• is in a family circumstance presenting challenges for the child, such as drug and alcohol misuse, adult mental health issues and domestic abuse;

- is misusing drugs or alcohol themselves;
- has returned home to their family from care;
- is at risk of honour-based abuse such as Female Genital Mutilation or Forced Marriage;
- is a privately fostered child; and
- is persistently absent from education or have become a child missing from educaiton;
- has or needs a social worker .

We acknowledge that working in partnership with other agencies protects children and reduces risk and so we will engage in partnership working throughout the child protection process to safeguard children.

Everyone who comes into contact with children and their families has a role to play in safeguarding children. School staff are particularly important as they are in a position to identify concerns early and provide help for children, to prevent concerns from escalating. School staff form part of the wider safeguarding system for children. This system is described in statutory guidance *Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018*.

Our staff seek to adopt an open and accepting attitude towards children and young people as part of their general responsibility for pastoral care and is integral to Hope Community School's ethos. Parents, carers and children are free to talk about any concerns or worries which may affect educational progress and that they see the school as a safe place if there are ever any difficulties at home. Children are always taken seriously if they seek help from a member of staff.



It is every adult's responsibility to remain vigilant and all suspicions or complaints of abuse must be reported to the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL), or if the complaint involves the Designated teacher, to the Designated Local Governor.

The role of the Designated Safeguarding Lead is one of vital importance in a school. Due to the responsibilities and significance of safeguarding responsibilities, this role is undertaken by a member of the senior leadership team.

1.1 Role of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL)

The DSL will ensure that:

- they liaise with and manage all referrals to relevant agencies such as Family Services and Social Work (FSSW), and the LADO
- the Head Teacher and the Trust Board are kept informed of on-going safeguarding and child protection inquiries
- they provide advice and guidance for staff on safeguarding and child protection issues
- Southampton's Safeguarding Children Board policies and are reviewed annually
- all staff, including temporary staff, are aware of and understand the policies and procedures and are able to implement them
- they attend regular training and network meetings run by Southampton's safeguarding board and delegated trainers to keep up to date with emerging policies and issues
- they are aware of children in need, young carers and children who have special educational needs and keep staff up to date with developments and information
- child protection systems within the school, including the management of records and standards of recording are overseen
- they provide the link between the school and other relevant safeguarding agencies including the Virtual School for Looked After Children
- all staff, including temporary staff, receive appropriate safeguarding training every year
- there is refresher training for Staff INSET throughout the year
- parents are aware of policies and procedures and that they are kept informed and involved as appropriate
- relevant records are passed on appropriately when children transfer to other schools or settings
- ensures that checks and identification are received for any supply teachers that are used by the school
- all supply teachers are given a shortened copy of this policy to inform them of the procedures in school.
- help promote educational outcomes by sharing the information about the welfare, safeguarding and child protection issues that children, including children with a social worker, are experiencing, or have experienced, with teachers and school and college leadership staff. Their role could include ensuring that the school or college, and their staff, know who these children are, understand their academic progress and attainment and maintain a culture of high aspirations for this cohort; supporting teaching staff to



identify the challenges that children in this group might face and the additional academic support and adjustments that they could make to best support these children.

1.2 How we help keep children safe:

- Ensuring all staff, local governors and volunteers are aware of Safeguarding guidelines through policy, procedures and staff code of conduct
- Identify children who need extra help at an early stage and make appropriate referrals for an early help service to prevent concerns escalating
- Review and monitor our list of vulnerable pupils on a regular basis, especially those who receive early help
- Sharing information about safeguarding and good practice
- Sharing information with relevant agencies and involving children and parents where appropriate
- Following the procedures to safely recruit staff, local governors and volunteers
- Providing effective management for staff, local governors and volunteers through support and training including online safety
- All staff will undertake 'Safeguarding A' training and have access to 'Child Abuse Signs and Symptoms' documentation, including online safety (for example, via email, ebulletins, staff meetings) as required, and at least annually, to provide them with relevant skills and knowledge to safeguard children effectively.
- Ensure that all children are in an environment where they feel safe and secure
- Ensure children know they can approach any adult in the school if they are worried
- Include opportunities for the development of the whole child through the planning of the SMSCD (Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Development) Curriculum such that every child develops the skills they need to recognise and stay safe from harm and abuse.

1.3 How we promote Safeguarding in our curriculum

When appropriate, safeguarding issues will be addressed within HCS curriculum. Where suitable, issues may be explored in assembly, as part of Relationships, Sex and Health Education (RSHE) and Citizenship Education, SMCS, ICT and online safety. Further details included in Hope Community School's Teaching and Learning Policy, RSHE and Health and Safety policy.

Opportunities for discussion as part of day to learning in an environment where they feel secure, safe and confident supports children to develop the confidence to question and explore making good / right choices. Drama and discussion activities explaining risks in different situations encourage reflection on attitudes, responses and behaviour. Role play scenarios promote self-esteem whilst also highlighting the impact of personal decisions on others.

1.31 Online safety

KSCIE 2023 (para 111) categorises online safety into three areas of risk:

• content: being exposed to illegal, inappropriate or harmful content; for example: pornography, fake news, racist, misogynistic, self-harm, suicide, anti-semitic, radical and extremist;



• contact: being subjected to harmful online interaction with other users; for example: peer to peer pressure, commercial advertising and adults posing as children or young adults for the purposes of grooming children; and

• conduct: personal online behaviour that increases the likelihood of, or causes, harm; for example, making, sending and receiving explicit images, sharing others explicit images and online bullying.

1.4 How we train staff

All staff have 'Safeguarding Level 1' training and understand individual responsibilities for safeguarding. Training in different areas of responsibilities and updates will take place annually, with clear understanding for staff of the DSL role. There is also a commitment to ensure all staff read Part One of Keeping Children Safe in Education 2023 and that mechanisms are in place to assist staff to understand and discharge their role and responsibilities. Arrangements for HCS safeguarding and safeguarding procedures are shared with temporary staff and volunteers.

The Designated Safeguarding Lead and Deputy Designated Safeguarding Leads will undergo annual training each year. This will either be formal training accessed from Southampton's Safeguarding Partnership (LSCB) every 2 years, followed up in other years with training taking the form of an annual update. The DSL's training will also include Peer-on-Peer Abuse; so-called Honour-based abuse; and understanding the additional safeguarding vulnerabilities of learners with SEN and disabilities, and how those barriers can be overcome.

The Chair of the Local Governing Body, the designated Local Governor for Safeguarding and Child Protection and Local Authority appointed governor will undertake the Local Authority's governor safeguarding training at least once every three years.

All new members of staff will receive child protection training as indicated in above as part of their induction programme. Briefings and updates on child protection and safeguarding procedures (including the signs of abuse and procedures for reporting concerns and disclosures) will be provided on a regular basis, at least annually, but more frequently when necessary, to ensure that all members of staff are familiar with any changes to the school policy as they occur.

At least one member of every appointments panel will have gained accreditation through Safer Recruitment training. The school will ensure that there are always sufficient numbers of suitably trained staff or local governors in post.

A central record of Safeguarding training is kept in the school office and monitored by the HCS Local Governing Body.



2: Abuse

Our policy outlines the action to be taken if it is suspected that a child may be abused, harmed or neglected. It is recognised that a child may be abused, harmed or neglected in a family, institution or community setting by someone known to them or by a stranger. This may include someone in a position of trust.

2.1 How we define abuse

There are four categories of abuse:

- Physical abuse
- Emotional abuse
- Sexual abuse
- Neglect

This policy will also address the issue of Radicalisation and its prevention, Child Sexual Exploitation, Forced Marriage, Female Genital Mutilation, Honour Based abuse, Child on child abuse and 'Upskirting'. We also recognise some children are more vulnerable to abuse than others and have covered issues such as Looked After Children, children who are missing from education, privately fostered children, children who run away, and disabled children. Staff should be aware that abuse, neglect and safeguarding issues are rarely stand-alone events and cannot be covered by one definition or one label alone. In most cases, multiple issues will overlap with one another.

2.2 Physical abuse

Physical abuse may involve hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or scalding, drowning, suffocating, or otherwise causing physical harm to a child. Physical harm may also be caused when a parent or carer fabricates the symptoms of, or deliberately induces, illness in a child.

Possible signs of Physical Abuse

Hitting, squeezing, biting or twisting a child's arms or legs can cause injuries like bruises, grazes, cuts or broken bones. Sometimes someone burns a child, perhaps by holding a part of the body against something very hot or by scalding. Poisoning a child, perhaps by giving them alcohol or drugs, is also physical abuse. Older children may seek to conceal such injuries by keeping their arms and legs covered or being reluctant to change for sport.

Responsible staff need to be especially concerned about:

- injuries which do not match the explanation given for them
- bruises in places where you would not normally expect to find them, in soft tissue, for example, rather than on the bony prominence
- bruises which have a distinctive shape or pattern, like handprints, grasp or finger marks or belt marks
- burns or scalds with clear outlines
- bite marks and bruises like love-bites
- bruising in or around the mouth.



2.3 Emotional Abuse

Emotional abuse is the persistent emotional maltreatment of a child such as to cause severe and persistent adverse effects on the child's emotional development. It may involve conveying to children that they are worthless or unloved, inadequate, or valued only insofar as they meet the needs of another person. It may feature age or developmentally inappropriate expectations being imposed on children. These may include interactions that are beyond the child's developmental capability, as well as overprotection and limitation of exploration and learning, or preventing the child participating in normal social interaction. It may involve seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another. It may involve serious bullying, causing children frequently to feel frightened or in danger, or the exploitation or corruption of children. Some level of emotional abuse is involved in all types of maltreatment of a child, though it may occur alone.

Possible signs of Emotional Abuse

This form of abuse may result in a child becoming withdrawn, nervous, and unhappy or lacking in confidence. It may result in a child being unable to make friends, perhaps because they behave aggressively or inappropriately towards other children. Emotional abuse may happen when a carer behaves in a persistently indifferent or hostile way towards a child, perhaps through bullying, rejecting, frightening, criticising or scapegoating the child. It may happen when a carer's behaviour is inconsistent so that the child never knows what reaction to expect. It may happen when carers are very possessive or over-protective. In severe cases, children may be subjected to cruel treatment and punishment, like being locked in cold, dark surroundings or being made to do endless, inappropriate household tasks. A child living with domestic violence is also suffering emotional harm.

Responsible staff should be especially concerned about a child who:

- is continually depressed and withdrawn
- runs away or who is frightened to go home
- is reluctant to attend school
- is persistently blamed for things that go wrong
- is made to carry out tasks inappropriate to their age
- is not allowed to do normal childhood activities
- displays excessive fear of their parents or carers
- is excessively clingy and tearful.

2.4 Sexual Abuse

Sexual abuse involves forcing or enticing a child or young person to take part in sexual activities, not necessarily involving violence, whether or not the child is aware of what is happening. The activities may involve physical contact, including assault by penetration (for example, rape or oral sex) or non-penetrative acts such as masturbation, kissing, rubbing and touching outside of clothing. They may also include non- contact activities, such as involving children in looking at, or in the production of, sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for abuse (including via the internet). Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males. Women can also commit acts of sexual abuse, as can other children.

The key elements in any definition of sexual abuse are:



- the betrayal of trust and responsibility
- abuse of power for the purpose of the sexual gratification of the abuser.

Possible signs of sexual abuse

The abuser may use different ways to persuade the child to cooperate such as bribery, threats or physical force. Sexual abuse can take different forms, from touching to intercourse, and often does not cause any outward signs of physical injury. It can happen to boys as well as girls and to children of any age, from birth to 18 years old. Sexual abuse can have long lasting effects. Some children who have been abused go on to abuse other children. Some find as they grow up that they are unable to have close relationships with other people. Others deliberately injure themselves because they feel so awful about themselves.

Be especially concerned about a child who:

- exhibits sexually explicit behaviour
- has inappropriate sexual knowledge for his or her age
- attempts suicide or self-inflicts injuries
- repeatedly runs away from home.

2.5 Neglect

Neglect is the persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical and/or psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the child's health or development. Neglect may affect a foetus during pregnancy as a result of maternal substance abuse.

Once a child is born, neglect may involve a parent or carer failing to:

- provide adequate food, clothing and shelter (including exclusion from home or abandonment)
- protect a child from physical and emotional harm or danger
- ensure adequate supervision (including the use of inadequate care-givers).
- ensure access to appropriate medical care or treatment

It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to, a child's basic emotional needs.

Possible signs of neglect

Responsible staff should be especially concerned about a child who:

- is constantly hungry, greedy or stealing food
- has lingering illnesses which have not been treated
- is continually smelly, scruffy and dirty
- is often dressed in inadequate or unsuitable clothing for the weather conditions
- suffers repeated accidents, suggesting a lack of proper supervision
- is constantly tired
- does not respond when given attention or, on the other hand, craves attention and affection from any adult.

2.6 Child sexual exploitation (CSE) and child criminal exploitation (CCE) Both CSE and CCE

are forms of abuse and both occur where an individual or group takes advantage of an imbalance in power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child into sexual or criminal activity. Whilst age may be the most obvious, this power imbalance can also be due to a



range of other factors including gender, sexual identity, cognitive ability, physical strength, status, and access to economic or other resources. In some cases, the abuse will be in exchange for something the victim needs or wants and/or will be to the financial benefit or other advantage (such as increased status) of the perpetrator or facilitator. The abuse can be perpetrated by individuals or groups, males or females, and children or adults. The abuse can be a one-off occurrence or a series of incidents over time and range from opportunistic to complex organised abuse. It can involve force and/or enticement-based methods of compliance and may, or may not, be accompanied by violence or threats of violence. Victims can be exploited even when activity appears consensual, and it should be noted exploitation as well as being physical can be facilitated and/or take place online.

(KCSIE 2023 para 36 and Annexe B)

2.7 Mental Health

All staff should also be aware that mental health problems can, in some cases, be an indicator that a child has suffered or is at risk of suffering abuse, neglect or exploitation. Only appropriately trained professionals should attempt to make a diagnosis of a mental health problem. Staff however, are well placed to observe children day-to-day and identify those whose behaviour suggests that they may be experiencing a mental health problem or be at risk of developing one. Where children have suffered abuse and neglect, or other potentially traumatic adverse childhood experiences, this can have a lasting impact throughout childhood, adolescence and into adulthood. It is key that staff are aware of how these children's experiences, can impact on their mental health, behaviour and education.

If staff have a mental health concern about a child that is also a safeguarding concern, immediate action should be taken, following their child protection policy and speaking to the designated safeguarding lead or a deputy.

3: Children with vulnerabilities

HCS recognises that while all children have a right to be safe, some children may be more vulnerable to abuse, for example those with a disability or special educational need, those living with domestic violence or drug/alcohol abusing parents, etc.

Some children are living in circumstances that may make them more vulnerable to abuse, neglect or poor outcomes. Some may need help or intervention from CFSC or other agencies in order to overcome problems or keep them safe. The following has been written to help school staff recognise those children. Training is updated each year to focus on these vulnerable groups and to refresh staff on what they need to look out for.

3.1 Children with disabilities

When working with children with disabilities, we need to be aware that additional possible indicators of abuse and/or neglect may also include:

- A bruise in a site that might not be of concern on an ambulant child such as the shin, might be of concern on a non-mobile child;
- Not getting enough help with feeding leading to malnourishment;
- Poor toileting arrangements;



- Lack of stimulation;
- Unjustified and/or excessive use of restraint;
- Rough handling, extreme behaviour modification such as deprivation of medication, food or clothing, disabling wheelchair batteries;
- Unwillingness to try to learn a child's means of communication;
- Ill-fitting equipment, for example callipers, sleep boards, inappropriate splinting;
- Misappropriation of a child's finances; or
- Inappropriate invasive procedures.

HCS recognise that there are a broad range of other safeguarding issues as outlined in guidance highlighted in KCSIE 2023.

For those children who may have need of Reasonable Force / Restraint

In line with the guidance in KCSIE 2023 (para 165) HCS recognise that using reasonable force in response to risks presented by incidents involving children with SEN or disabilities or with medical conditions should be carefully considered due to the additional vulnerability of these groups. In accordance with our Behaviour Policy, we proactively plan positive behaviour support for more vulnerable children and agree them with parents and carers to reduce the occurrence of challenging behaviour and the need to use reasonable force.

3.2 Children who are missing from education or home educated

The school refers to Southampton's "Children missing from education" policy 2021 <u>2021-children-missing-education-policy.docx (live.com)</u> and Southampton's Missing, Exploited and Trafficked Children (MET) 2018-2020. <u>Spotlight-On-MET-Information-Guide-Partnership-Updated.pdf (hampshirescp.org.uk)</u>

Within Southampton, the acronym MET is used to identify all children who are missing; believed to be at risk of or being sexually exploited; or who are at risk of or are being trafficked. Given the close links between all of these issues, there has been a considered response to join all three issues so that cross over of risk is not missed.

The school is aware of those children who are persistently absent or missing from school as this may be an indicator of welfare concerns and a range of safeguarding concerns, including sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or child criminal exploitation.

DSLs and staff should consider:

Missing lessons: Are there patterns in the lessons that are being missed? Is this more than avoidance of a subject or a teacher? Does the child remain on the school site or are they absent from the site?

- Is the child being sexually exploited during this time?
- Are they late because of a caring responsibility?
- Have they been directly or indirectly affected by substance misuse?
- Are other pupils routinely missing the same lessons, and does this raise other risks or concerns?
- Is the lesson being missed one that would cause bruising or injuries to become visible?



Single missing days: Is there a pattern in the day missed? Is it before or after the weekend suggesting the child is away from the area? Are there specific lessons or members of staff on these days? Is the parent informing the school of the absence on the day? Are missing days reported back to parents to confirm their awareness?

- Is the child being sexually exploited during this day?
- Do the parents appear to be aware?
- Are the pupil's peers making comments or suggestions as to where the pupil is at?

Continuous missing days: Has the school been able to make contact with the parent? Is medical evidence being provided? Are siblings attending school (either our or local schools)?

Our attendance policy clearly states who needs to be notified and what action should be taken and any relevant timescales. Local Safeguarding board's advice on missing children protocol which provides further details.

Where a parent notifies the school that they are removing the child so they can be educated at home, the following notifications are made:

- The Education Welfare Service is notified of all decisions
- A referral to Southampton's Missing Child Officer will be made and communication shared and updated as appropriate with any new information
- If the child is already known to Social Services, their allocated social worker is notified immediately
- If the child is not known to Social Services, but the school has concerns about their welfare or academic needs, the DSL will meet, where possible, with the receiving school with paper copies of our incidents, referrals, academic tracking and interventions to share with that school
- If the child is not known to social services and there are no concerns for welfare or academic needs the school will telephone the receiving school to share all information appropriate with them including past attainment and progress.

3.2 Children who runaway

Running away is a dangerous activity that puts children at risk. Schools need to be aware of the Southampton guidance on missing children so that staff are clear of their role in helping to locate missing children and actions the school can take to help them reintegrate into school on their return.

If schools are worried about a child or young person who is thinking about running away, they can refer the young person to the Barnardo's project on 020 7700 2253 for support to help them to deal with issues and stop them running away.

Schools should also be aware that going missing in an indicator of other issues, such as child sexual exploitation, gang activity and trafficking.



3.3 Children at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) involves exploitive situations, contexts and relationships where young people receive something (for example food, accommodation, drugs, alcohol, gifts, money or in some cases simply affection) as a result of engaging in sexual activities. Sexual exploitation can take many forms ranging from the seemingly 'consensual' relationship where sex is exchanged for affection or gifts, to serious organised crime by gangs and groups.

What marks out exploitation is an imbalance of power in the relationship with their perpetrator always holding some kind of power over the victim which increases as the exploitive relationship develops. Sexual exploitation involves varying degrees of coercion, intimidation or enticement, including unwanted pressure from peers to have sex, sexual bullying including cyberbullying and grooming. However, it is also important to recognise that some young people who are being sexually exploited do not exhibit any external signs of this abuse.

At Hope Community School all staff, local governors and volunteers are:

- aware of the guidance that is available in relation to CSE
- vigilant to the risk of it being practiced
- alert to the signs of potential or actual abuse

We take this abuse very seriously and will take timely and appropriate action in respect of any concerns about a child suspected to be at risk.

3.4 Privately Fostered Children

A privately fostered child is a child or young person aged up to 16 who is cared for by someone who is not a parent or close family member such as a grandparent, aunt, uncle or sibling, and where the care arrangement will last more than 28 days.

Private fostering is a private arrangement between parents and the carer and normally happens where parents are working or studying away or a child is sent to the UK to live with family friends or distant relatives.

In general, privately fostered children are well cared for but some arrangements may be a cover for trafficking. All private fostering arrangements must be notified to the local authority and Southampton has a duty to visit a privately fostered child in order to safeguard their welfare.

Schools have a legal duty to notify the local authority of any pupil they know to be privately fostered. Schools should contact the Fostering team.

3.5 Children Living with Domestic Violence and abuse

Domestic violence and abuse is extremely high in Southampton but often goes unreported or charges are dropped. Children living with parents who are experiencing domestic violence abuse also need support. All children can witness and be adversely affected by domestic abuse in the context of their home life where domestic abuse occurs between family members. Exposure to domestic abuse and/or violence can have a serious, long lasting emotional and psychological impact on children.



Concerns should be raised with designated lead in first instance. A decision will be made whether it is appropriate to approach the parent and by whom and how support can be offered without putting the parent / carer at risk.

The school will work closely with all agencies and will put in practice any actions that are shared with the family to support them where appropriate. Referrals made need to be made to MASH or Police, this will be the designated officer's decision.

The Trigger Trio

The term 'Trigger Trio' has been used to describe the issues of domestic violence, mental illhealth and substance misuse which have been identified as common features of families where harm to partners and children has occurred. They are viewed as indicators of increased risk of harm to children and young people.

Research indicates that living within a home where domestic abuse takes place is harmful to children and can have a serious impact on their behaviour, wellbeing and understanding of what a normal relationship is. Children witnessing domestic abuse is recognised as 'significant harm' in law. These children may become aggressive; display anti-social behaviours; suffer from depression or anxiety; or fail to reach their educational potential.

Indicators that a child is living within a relationship with domestic abuse include:

- · withdrawn · suddenly behaves differently, anxious, clingy · aggressive · problems sleeping
- · eating disorders · wets the bed · soils clothes · takes risks · misses school
- \cdot changes in eating habits \cdot obsessive behaviour \cdot nightmares \cdot drugs \cdot alcohol
- \cdot self-harm \cdot depressed, thoughts about suicide

For children the impact of parental mental health can include:

- · The parent / carer's needs or illnesses taking precedence over the child's needs
- \cdot Child's physical and emotional needs neglected
- \cdot A child acting as a young carer for a parent or a sibling
- · Child having restricted social and recreational activities
- · Child finds it difficult to concentrate- impacting on educational achievement
- · A child missing school regularly as (s)he is being kept home as a companion for a parent / carer
- · Adopt paranoid or suspicious behaviour as they believe their parent's delusions.
- Witnessing self-harming behaviour and suicide attempts (including attempts that involve the child)
- · Obsessional compulsive behaviours involving the child
- For children the impact of parental substance misuse can include:

• Inadequate food, heat and clothing for children (family finances used to fund adult's dependency)

- · Lack of engagement or interest from parents in their development, education or wellbeing
- · Behavioural difficulties- inappropriate display of sexual and/or aggressive behaviour
- Bullying (including bullying taking place due to a child's poor physical appearance)
- · Isolation finding it hard to socialise, make friends or invite them home



 \cdot Tiredness or lack of concentration \cdot Child talking of or bringing into school drugs or related paraphernalia

- · Injuries /accidents (due to inadequate adult supervision)
- · Taking on a caring role
- · Continued poor academic performance including difficulties completing homework on time
- · Poor attendance or late arrival

These behaviours themselves do not indicate that a child's parent is misusing substances but should be considered as indicators that this may be the case.

If staff become aware of any of the above indicators for domestic abuse, mental health or substance abuse which suggest a child is suffering the effects of their behaviour the information will be shared with the DSL to consider a referral to children's social care.

3.6 Children at risk of Forced Marriage

Any young person who is being forced into a marriage that they do not consent to will be the victim of child abuse and should be protected. They are likely to be in conflict with their family and may have little trust of adults, especially those from their own community.

The family may have made plans to take the young person abroad for the marriage and once this has happened, it becomes more difficult for the authorities in the UK to intervene.

The Forced Marriage Unit of the Foreign and Commonwealth Office has issued guidance for agencies on what action to take when there is reasonable cause to believe a young person may be being forced into marriage. Where schools are concerned or aware that a young person is about to be taken out of the UK for the purposes of a forced marriage, they should notify Southampton MASH immediately.

The family should not be notified or approached in any way. Schools should remain aware of a family's plans to go overseas for a period of time, and also if an older sibling has been known to have been forced to marry. Forced marriage - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/forced-marriage

Concerns will be shared with designated Leader and information will be shared with MASH either through referral or anonymous request for advice.

3.7 Children at risk of Female Genital Mutilation

Female genital mutilation (FGM) is a collective term for all procedures involving the partial or total removal of external female genitalia for cultural or other nontherapeutic reasons. The procedure is typically performed on girls aged between 4 and 13 years, but in some cases FGM is performed on new born infants or on young women before marriage or pregnancy. The age at which girls undergo FGM varies according to the community. FGM is illegal in the United Kingdom and carries a 14-year jail sentence. It is also illegal to take a child abroad to undergo FGM. FGM is considered child abuse in the UK and causes physical, psychological and sexual harm.



At Hope Community School, all staff, local governors and volunteers are:

- aware of the guidance that is available in respect of FGM
- vigilant to the risk of it being practiced
- alert to the signs of potential or actual abuse
- alert to children who are about to be taken to countries where FGM is common.

We take this abuse very seriously and will take timely and appropriate action in respect of any concerns about a child suspected to be at risk or to have undergone FGM. Any act of FGM on a girl under 18 must be reported to the police.

Whilst all staff should speak to the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy) with regard to any concerns about female genital mutilation (FGM), there is a specific legal duty on teachers. If a teacher, in the course of their work in the profession, discovers that an act of FGM appears to have been carried out on a girl under the age of 18, the teacher must report this to the police.

3.8 Children at risk of Honour Based Abuse

Honour based abuse is a violent crime or incident which may have been committed to protect or defend the honour of the family or community. It is often linked to family members or acquaintances who mistakenly believe someone has brought shame to their family or community by doing something that is not in keeping with the traditional beliefs of their culture. For example, honour based abuse might be committed against people who:

- become involved with a boyfriend or girlfriend from a different culture or religion
- want to get out of an arranged marriage
- want to get out of a forced marriage
- wear clothes or take part in activities that might not be considered traditional in their culture

Women and girls are the most common victims of honour based abuse however it can also affect men and boys. Crimes of 'honour' do not always include violence. Crimes committed in the name of 'honour' might include:

- domestic abuse
- threats of violence or abuse
- sexual or psychological abuse
- forced marriage
- being held against your will or taken somewhere you don't want to go
- assault

In cases relating to HBV concerns, discussion with the designated Leader is essential and advice from MASH will be sought as to how to proceed to be safeguard the child or adult involved.

3.9 Children at risk of Radicalisation

Our Christian Values

Christian values run as a thread throughout the school and curriculum. We will create space for children and the school community to explore their own personal beliefs and faith in a safe place



where they can ask the big questions of life. We will present a Christian viewpoint while allowing children the freedom to decide for themselves. We will ensure children of all faiths feel included and valued by being inclusive in teaching about other faiths and religions.

Radicalisation

Hope Community School is fully committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all its pupils. As a school we recognise that safeguarding against radicalisation is no different from safeguarding against any other vulnerability. At Hope Community School all staff are expected to uphold and promote the fundamental principles of British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual respect, and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs. In formulating this policy, the Trust Board have taken account of the guidance from the Department for Education (DfE) who has called for all public bodies to make explicit their preventative measures to minimise the threat of extremism in their setting.

Definitions and Indicators

Radicalisation is defined as the act or process of making a person more radical or favouring of extreme or fundamental changes in political, economic or social conditions, institutions or habits of the mind. Extremism is defined as the holding of extreme political or religious views. The Trust Board has a zero-tolerance approach to extremist behaviour for all community members. We rely on our strong values to steer our work and ensure the pastoral care of our pupils protects them from exposure to negative influences. Furthermore, the positive promotion of our Christian values and emphasis on creativity, adventure and openness equips our pupils with the skills to reject violence in all its forms.

Aims and Principles

All members of our school community need to be fully engaged in being vigilant about radicalisation; that they overcome professional disbelief that such issues will not happen here and ensure that we work alongside other professional bodies and agencies to ensure that our pupils are safe from harm.

The principle objectives of Hope Community School are that:

- Pupils are encouraged to adopt and live out our Christian Values. These complement the key "British Values" of tolerance, respect, understanding, compassion and harmonious living.
- Pupils are helped to understand the importance of democracy and freedom of speech, through the class circle times and our daily Collective.
- Pupils are taught how to keep themselves safe, in school and when using the internet.
- Pupils participate in local community events so that they appreciate and value their neighbours and friends who may be different from themselves.
- Pupil's wellbeing, confidence and resilience is promoted through our planned curriculum and out of hours learning opportunities.
- Pupils are supported in making good choices from a very young age, so they understand the impact and consequences of their actions on others.



• We ensure Local governors, teachers, teaching assistants and non-teaching staff demonstrate an understanding of what radicalisation and extremism are and why we need to be vigilant in school.

Any child who is considered vulnerable to radicalisation and there are evidence-based concerns indicate they may be at risk of being/ have been radicalised will be referred by the DSL via direct national referral using the template and flowchart in Appendix. Concerns will then be considered by CTLP and shared with SCC Childrens Resource Service (CRS). This may lead to contact with the school by the police for discussion regarding actions. It may be decided to refer to into Channel panel process. A "channel panel" will be convened and the school will be invited to attend and support this process.

CHANNEL

Channel is a voluntary, confidential support programme which focuses on providing support at an early stage to people who are identified as being vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism.

Prevent referrals may be passed to a multi-agency Channel panel, which will discuss the individual referred to determine whether they are vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism and consider the appropriate support required. A representative from the school may be asked to attend the Channel panel to help with this assessment. An individual's engagement with the programme is entirely voluntary at all stages. Any child who is considered vulnerable to radicalisation will be referred by the DSL to Southampton children's social care, where the concerns will be considered in the CRS (CHILDREN'S RESOURCE SERVICE) process. If the police prevent officer considers the information to be indicating a level of risk a "channel panel" will be convened and the school will attend and support this process.

Members of the Local Council and SLT, including the DSL must have PREVENT training. All staff must be updated by senior leaders and regular INSET provided.

3.10 Children at risk from Child on child Abuse

DfE guidance KCSIE (2023) says that "all staff can abuse other children (often referred to as child on child abuse). Procedures should be in place to minimising the risks of peer-on- peer abuse. Some allegations may be of such a serious nature that they may raise safeguarding concerns.

These allegations are most likely to include:

- abuse in intimate personal relationships between peers;
- Causing someone to engage in sexual activity without their consent (for example, forcing someone to strip, touch themselves sexually, or to engage in sexual activity with a third party)
- bullying (including cyberbullying)
- physical abuse such as hitting, kicking, shaking, biting, hair pulling, or otherwise causing physical harm (this may include an online element which facilitates, threatens and/or encourages physical abuse)
- emotional abuse
- sexual violence, abuse and sexual harassment
- initiation/hazing type violence and rituals (this could include activities involving harassment, abuse or humiliation used as a way of initiating a person into a group and may also include an online element)



- Upskirting, which typically involves taking a picture under a person's clothing without them knowing, with the intention of viewing their genitals or buttocks to obtain sexual gratification, or cause the victim humiliation, distress or alarm;
- sexting (sharing nudes and semi-nudes images and or videos)

It is also likely that incidents dealt with under this policy will involve older students and their behaviour towards younger students or those who are vulnerable.

Staff training will ensure that peer to peer abuse will be recorded and investigated as with any Safeguarding concerns. This will include consideration of the wishes of the victim, nature of the incident including whether a crime has been committed and harm caused, ages of the children, gendered nature, developmental stages of the children, power imbalance between the children, any previous incidents, on-going risks, other related issues or wider contexts.

These will be managed in 3 ways:

- 1. Monitored and managed internally
- 2. Early help intervention
- 3. Referral to MASH or the Police.

However, HCS will remain vigilant in ensuring any behaviour from pupils, which may seem abusive in their nature is dealt with appropriately.

At HCS we believe that all children have a right to attend school and learn in a safe environment. Children should be free from harm by adults in the school and other students. We recognise that some students will sometimes negatively affect the learning and wellbeing of others and their behaviour will be dealt with under the school's behaviour policy.

Prevention

As a school we will minimise the risk of allegations against other pupils by:

- Providing a developmentally appropriate RSHE syllabus which develops students understanding of acceptable behaviour and keeping themselves safe
- Having systems in place for any student to raise concerns with staff, knowing that they will be listened to, believed and valued
- Delivering targeted work on assertiveness and keeping safe to those pupils identified as being at risk
- Developing robust risk assessments & providing targeted work for pupils identified as being a potential risk to other pupils.

Allegations against other pupils which are safeguarding issues

Occasionally, allegations may be made against students by others in the school, which are of a safeguarding nature. Safeguarding issues raised in this way may include physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse and sexual exploitation. It is likely that, to be considered a safeguarding allegation against a pupil, some of the following features will be found.



If the allegation

- Is made against an older pupil and refers to their behaviour towards a younger pupil or a more vulnerable pupil
- Is of a serious nature, possibly including a criminal offence
- Raises risk factors for other pupils in the school
- Indicates that other pupils may have been affected by this student
- Indicates that young people outside the school may be affected by this student

If a concern is raised that there is an allegation of a pupil abusing another pupil within the school, the 'dealing with allegations against pupils' guidance will be followed. This has been reviewed in line with the "Sexual violence and sexual harassment" guidance issued by the Government May 2018. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sexual-violence-and-sexual-harassment-between-children-in-schools-and-colleges</u>

Examples of safeguarding issues against a student could include

Physical Abuse

- Violence, particularly pre-planned
- Forcing others to use drugs or alcohol

Emotional Abuse

- Blackmail or extortion
- Threats and intimidation

Sexual Abuse

- Indecent exposure, indecent touching or serious sexual assaults
- Forcing others to watch pornography or take part in sexting

'Upskirting' typically involves taking a picture under a person's clothing without them knowing, with the intention of viewing their genitals or buttocks to obtain sexual gratification, or cause the victim humiliation, distress or alarm. It is now a criminal offence and may constitute sexual harassment.

'Sexting' often refers to the sharing of naked or 'nude' pictures or video through mobile phones and the internet. It also includes underwear shots, sexual poses and explicit text messaging. While sexting often takes place in a consensual relationship between two young people, the use of sexted images in revenge following a relationship breakdown is becoming more commonplace.

Sexting can also be used as a form of sexual exploitation and take place between strangers. As the average age of first smartphone or camera enabled tablet is 6 years old, sexting is an issue that requires awareness raising across all ages.

The school will use age appropriate educational material to raise awareness, to promote safety and deal with pressure. Parents should be aware that they can come to the school for advice.

Sexual Exploitation



- Encouraging other children to engage in inappropriate sexual behaviour (For example having an older boyfriend/girlfriend, associating with unknown adults or other sexually exploited children, staying out overnight)
- Photographing or videoing other children performing indecent acts

Procedure to manage an allegation by a pupil against another pupil

- When an allegation is made by a pupil against another student, members of staff should consider whether the complaint raises a safeguarding concern. If there is a safeguarding concern the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) should be informed.
- A factual record should be made of the allegation, but no attempt at this stage should be made to investigate the circumstances.
- The DSL should contact the children's reception team (CRT) to discuss the case. The DSL will follow through the outcomes of the discussion and make a referral where appropriate.
- If the allegation indicates that a potential criminal offence has taken place, CRT will refer the case to the multi-agency agency safeguarding hub where the police will become involved.
- Parents, of both the student being complained about and the alleged victim, should be informed and kept updated on the progress of the referral.
- The DSL will make a record of the concern, the discussion and any outcome and keep a copy in the safeguarding files of both pupils.
- It may be appropriate to exclude the pupil being complained about for a period of time according to the school's behaviour policy and procedures.
- Where neither social services nor the police accept the complaint, a thorough school investigation should take place into the matter using the school's usual disciplinary procedures.
- In situations where the school considers a safeguarding risk is present, a risk assessment should be prepared along with a preventative, supervision plan.
- The plan should be monitored and a date set for a follow-up evaluation with everyone concerned.

See further information in our referral section.

3.11 Sexual violence and sexual harassment between pupil in schools

In HCS, all adults are expected to make it clear that sexual violence and sexual harassment is not acceptable, will never be tolerated and is not an inevitable part of growing up. This will be through the examples staff set as role models to our pupils as well as through RSHE and application of the behaviour policy and code of conduct.

Sexual violence and sexual harassment can occur between two children of any age and sex. It can also occur through a group of children sexually assaulting or sexually harassing a single child or group of children. Sexual violence and sexual harassment exist on a continuum and may overlap; they can occur online and face to face (both physically and verbally) and are never acceptable



Adults are expected to:

- not tolerate or dismiss sexual violence or sexual harassment as "banter", "part of growing up", "just having a laugh" or "boys being boys";
- challenge behaviour (potentially criminal in nature), such as grabbing bottoms, breasts and genitalia and flicking bras and lifting up skirts.
- understand that all of the above can be driven by wider societal factors beyond the school and college, such as everyday sexist stereotypes and everyday sexist language. This is why a whole school approach (especially preventative education) as described in Part 5 of KCSIE 2023.
- recognise that pupils with SEN are three times more likely to be abused and ensure they have awareness of pupil behaviours that may be inappropriate towards pupils with SEN
- recognise that allegations of sexual violence or sexual harassment are likely to be complex and will require difficult professional decisions to be made.

Responding to reports

The DSL must be notified without delay and decisions made on a case-by-case basis. As with other disclosures the person disclosing must be able to disclose the information in a supportive environment with clear record of factual information made as soon after the disclosure as possible.

It is essential that all victims are reassured that they are being taken seriously, regardless of how long it has taken them to come forward and that they will be supported and kept safe. Abuse that occurs online should not be downplayed and should be treated seriously. A victim should never be given the impression that they are creating a problem by reporting sexual violence or sexual harassment. Nor should a victim ever be made to feel ashamed for making a report or their experience minimised.

Parents/carers will be informed unless there is a compelling reason not to, such as safety of the child. The police will advise what information can or should be shared.

There may need to be a temporary revision of education arrangements including class moves, arrangements for arriving and leaving school and at break times to ensure that both pupils are supported in continuing their education whilst any investigation is carried out. Procedures in line with Keeping Safe in Education for Child on Child Sexual Violence and Sexual Harassment will be followed.

Action: following a report of sexual violence and/or sexual harassment As always when concerned about the welfare of a child, all staff should act in the best interests of the child. Immediate consideration should be given as to how best to support and protect the victim and the alleged perpetrator(s) (and any other children involved/impacted).

See KCSIE 2023, paragraph 163 - 165 for full guidance



3.12 Managing reports

Managing reports of a safeguarding incident is important, especially when staff are required to sensitively deal with difficult issues, whilst supporting a child or children

When managing reports:

• if possible, manage reports with two members of staff present, (preferably one of them being the designated safeguarding lead or a deputy).

• staff are not to promise confidentiality at this initial stage as it is very likely a concern will have to be shared further. It is important that the victim understands what the next steps will be and who the report will be passed to;

• recognising that a child is likely to disclose to someone they trust. It is important that the person to whom the child discloses recognises that the child has placed them in a position of trust. They should be supportive and respectful of the child;

• recognise that an initial disclosure to a trusted adult may only be the first incident reported, rather than representative of a singular incident and that trauma can impact memory and so children may not be able to recall all details or timeline of abuse;

• keep in mind that certain children may face additional barriers to telling someone because of their disability, sex, ethnicity and/or sexual orientation;

• listen carefully to the child, reflecting back, using the child's language, being non-judgmental, being clear about boundaries and how the report will be progressed, not asking leading questions and only prompting the child where necessary with open questions – where, when, what, etc. It is important to note that whilst leading questions should be avoided, staff can ask children if they have been harmed and what the nature of that harm was;

• considering the best way to make a record of the report. Best practice is to wait until the end of the report and immediately write up a thorough summary.

This allows the staff member to devote their full attention to the child and to listen to what they are saying. It may be appropriate to make notes during the report (especially if a second member of staff is present).

• only record the facts as the child presents them. The notes should not reflect the personal opinion of the note taker. Schools should be aware that notes of such reports could become part of a statutory assessment by children's social care and/or part of a criminal investigation;

• where the report includes an online element, being aware of searching screening and confiscation advice (for schools) and UKCIS sexting in schools advice. The key consideration is for staff not to view or forward illegal images of a child. The highlighted advice provides more details on what to do when viewing an image is unavoidable; and

• informing the designated safeguarding lead (or deputy), as soon as practically possible, if not involved in the initial report.

The same procedures should be followed as set out in the child protection policy.

HCS also recognise the need to report and act on online safety concerns across all our policies including school behaviour policy and bullying policy to ensure pupils are just as clear about what is expected of



them online as offline. Teaching Online Safety at School published by the DfE is to be followed.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/811796/Teaching_online_safety_in_school.pdf

A risk assessment must be made following the disclosure by the DSL on a case-by-case basis, this may need to be amended once other agencies become involved. The DSL will report to children's social care through MASH, and this will be in conjunction with the police.

3.12 Serious Violence

All staff should be aware of indicators that children could be at risk of serious violent crime and further information on how this will be managed is available from the Home Office on preventing youth violence and gang membership. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-to-schools-and-colleges-on-gangs-and-youth-violence</u>

All staff should be aware of indicators, which may signal that children are at risk from, or are involved with serious violent crime. These may include increased absence from school, a change in friendships or relationships with older individuals or groups, a significant decline in performance, signs of self-harm or a significant change in wellbeing, or signs of assault or unexplained injuries. Unexplained gifts or new possessions could also indicate that children have been approached by, or are involved with, individuals associated with criminal networks or gangs and may be at risk of criminal exploitation. Risk factors that increase the likelihood of involvement in serious violence have been added:

- o Being male
- Being frequently absent or permanently excluded from school
- Having experienced child maltreatment
- Having been involved in offending such as theft or robbery

3.13 Child criminal exploitation: county lines County Lines: Criminal Exploitation of children and vulnerable adults (Home Office Guidance)

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data /file/741194/HOCountyLinesGuidanceSept2018.pdf

HCS recognise that criminal exploitation of children is a geographically widespread form of harm that is a typical feature of county lines criminal activity - drug networks or gangs groom and exploit children and young people to carry drugs and money from urban areas to suburban and rural areas, market and seaside towns. Southampton in particular has very real and current problems across areas of the city where children are at high risk.

Like other forms of abuse and exploitation, county lines exploitation:

- can affect any child or young person (male or female) under the age of 18 years;
- can affect any vulnerable adult over the age of 18 years;
- can still be exploitation even if the activity appears consensual;
- can involve force and/or enticement-based methods of compliance and is often accompanied by violence or threats of violence;
- can be perpetrated by individuals or groups, males or females, and young people or adults; and



• is typified by some form of power imbalance in favour of those perpetrating the exploitation.

Key to identifying potential involvement in county lines are missing episodes, when the victim may have been trafficked for the purpose of transporting drugs, and a referral to the National Referral Mechanism should be considered.

Whilst age may be the most obvious, this power imbalance can also be due to a range of other factors including gender, cognitive ability, physical strength, status, and access to economic or other resources. Any person in our school who has concerns that may include criminal exploitation of a child should report their concern to the DSL without delay. The DSL will contact the multi-agency safeguarding hub for advice. (Annexe B 2023)

3.14 Children and the court system

Children are sometime required to give evidence in criminal courts, either for crimes committed against them or for crimes they have witnessed. There are two age appropriate guides to support children with Young witness booklet for 5 to 11 year olds and 12-17 year olds. These explain each step of the process and support and special measures that are available. There are diagrams illustrating the courtroom structure and the use of video links is explained.

Making child arrangements via the family courts following separation can be stressful and entrench conflict in families. This can be stressful for children. The Ministry of Justice has launched an online child arrangements information tool with clear and concise information on the dispute resolution service. This may be useful for some parents and carers. If this situation arises for a child at HCS we will work with the relevant agencies and families to ensure that the child feels supported through the process and after through assessment on a case by case basis. (Annexe B 2023)

3.15 Children with family members in prison

National Information Centre on Children of Offenders: Approximately 200,000 children have a parent sent to prison each year. These children are at risk of poor outcomes including poverty, stigma, isolation and poor mental health.

NICCO provides information designed to support professionals working with offenders and their children, to help mitigate negative consequences for those children. If this occurs at HCS we will work together with the relevant agencies including NICCO to ensure that the child is fully supported, and actions can be taken to aim to mitigate the circumstances ensuring that all communication and access to information is fully adhered to. (Annexe B KCSIE 2023)

https://www.nicco.org.uk/directory-of-resources



3.15 Homelessness

As a school we recognise that being homeless or being at risk of becoming homeless presents a real risk to a child's welfare. The impact of losing a place of safety and security can affect a child's behaviour and attachments.

In line with the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 this school will promote links into the Local Housing Authority for the parent or care giver in order to raise/progress concerns at the earliest opportunity.

During office hours you can contact the Southampton Homelessness Advice team on telephone number 023 8083 2327 or by email at <u>homelessness.advice@southampton.gov.uk</u>.

We recognise that whilst referrals and/or discussion with the Local Housing Authority should be progressed as appropriate, this does not, and should not, replace a referral into children's social care where a child has been harmed or is at risk of harm. (Annexe B KCSIE 2023)

How we safeguard extended school and before and after school activities

All activities taking place as part of our extended day, whether before or after core school hours, will follow our safeguarding procedures.

How this policy is monitored and reviewed?

The DSL meets with the designated Local Governor once a term to discuss the effectiveness of the policy and procedures, this is then reported to the Local Governing Body. We are also gathering the experiences and expertise of our staff to contribute to the shaping of our policies through our annual training updates for the Local Governing Body to utilise in their review process.



4: Managing Concerns

4.1 How staff talk about and record safeguarding conversations with children

Staff who observe injuries which appear to be non-accidental, or who are told anything significant by a child, **must** report their concerns to the DSL.

School staff do not, however, carry out investigations, nor decide whether children have been abused. This is a matter for specialist agencies.

If the concern is as a result of a conversation with a child the adult speaking with the child must:

- Listen carefully to the child and keep an open mind. Staff should not take a decision as to whether or not the abuse has taken place.
- Not ask leading questions, that is, a question which suggests its own answer ("Was it your Father?" or "Did this take place on Tuesday when you were away?").
- Reassure the child but not give a guarantee of absolute confidentiality. The member of staff should explain that they need to pass the information to the DSL, who will ensure that the correct action is taken.
- Must keep a written record of the conversation which must be written within an hour of the disclosure.

The record should include the date, time and place of the conversation and the essence of what was said and done by whom and in whose presence. It should describe observable behaviour e.g. was shaking, continued to cry, constantly moved around the room and record the actual words spoken by the child wherever possible. The record should be signed by the person making it and should use names, not initials.

Staff should be mindful that early information sharing is vital for effective identification, assessment and allocation of appropriate service provision, whether this is when problems are first emerging, or where a child is already known to local authority children's social care (such as on a child in need or child protection plan).

Childs Wishes

Where there is a safeguarding concern at this school all leaders ensure that the child's wishes and feelings are taken into account when determining what action to take and what services to provide, contact or signpost too. Systems are in place for children to express their view and give feedback when talking with any DSL's and these are always fed back to other agencies involved to operate with the best interests of the child at heart (KCSIE 2023 para 69)

Following our procedures these are recorded to ensure an accurate account of their views with any words and / or phrases used by the child. This is routinely followed up by our DSL.

Children are able to access DSL's throughout the school day and know who the adults are.

At induction all staff receive training on the school's internal procedures for keeping a confidential written record of any incidents and the expectations of recording requirements (e.g. local referral form or written report for case conference) of Southampton's Safeguarding Partnership (LSCB). **The record must be kept securely and handed to the DSL.**



In all cases Staff are **required** to discuss concerns with the school's DSL. They will in turn liaise with the appointed Local Governor and respond in line with the LCSB procedures. We regard all information relating to individual safeguarding issues as confidential, and staff will act accordingly.

Further information is available on request from the Principal. If staff are unsure how to proceed advice may be sought from the Local Authority, the Social Services Department or the Police.

4.2 How we involve other people and agencies

The School will respond to concerns in line with Safeguarding Partnership (The LCSB) policies. Our policy is to refer all matters of concern to the appropriate agency. If it is a matter of safeguarding a child it will be referred to Children's Services.

Whilst the school will work openly with parents as far as possible, the school reserves the right to contact Southampton's Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (in line with current safeguarding procedures) and Local Safeguarding Children's Board Child and Family Early Intervention Model or the Police, without notifying parents if this is in the child's best interests.

4.3 Referrals

Concerns about a child's welfare should be referred to local authority children's social care. Where a child is suffering, or is likely to suffer from harm, it is important that a referral to children's social care (and if appropriate the police) is made immediately. Referrals should follow the local referral process.

Safeguarding referrals should be made to Southampton Children's Resource Service including MASH: Telephone: 023 8083 2300 (Out of hours: 023 8023 3344) Email address: <u>childrensresourceservice@southampton.gov.uk</u>

The parent/carer will normally be contacted to obtain their consent before a referral is made. However, if the concern involves, for example alleged or suspected child sexual abuse, Honour Based abuse, fabricated or induced illness or the Designated Safeguarding Lead has reason to believe that informing the parent at this stage might compromise the safety of the child or a staff member, nothing should be said to the parent/carer ahead of the referral, but a rationale for the decision to progress without consent should be provided with the referral.

In circumstances where a child has an unexplained or suspicious injury that requires urgent medical attention, the CP referral process should not delay the administration of first aid or emergency medical assistance.

If a pupil is thought to be at immediate risk because of, for example, parental violence, intoxication, substance abuse, mental illness or threats to remove the child during the school day, urgent Police intervention will be requested together with a referral to Children's Resource Service by telephone or online referral form.

Children's Resource Service request | Southampton City Council



Reporting to the police

Any report to the police will generally be in parallel with a referral to children's social care See KCSIE 2023, section 394.

Where a child sustains a physical injury or is distressed as a result of reported chastisement, or alleges that they have been chastised by the use of an implement or substance, this will immediately be reported for investigation.

All parents applying for places at this school will be informed of our safeguarding responsibilities and the existence of this policy. In situations where pupils sustain injury or are otherwise affected by an accident or incident whilst they are the responsibility of the school, parents will be notified of this as soon as possible.

Hope Community School recognises the need to be alert to the risks posed by strangers or others (including the parents or carers of other pupils) who may wish to harm children in school or pupils travelling to and from school and will take all reasonable steps to lessen such risks.

Early Help: Referrals for Early help will be made using 'Request for a Service' Form for those children and their families that request or need additional support from the Early help team to manage situations at home. The 'Request for a Service' form can be completed online at www.southampton.gov.uk/childrenssocialcare

Southampton-Pathways-Document-1.pdf (southamptonscp.org.uk)

These referrals will be written, where possible, jointly with the parents to ensure all information is correct and the area of help has been clearly identified.

Children in need: Referral for a social work service will be made by way of a referral to the Children's Resource Service/ MASH team for children who are likely to be assessed as being a child in need under section 17 of the Children Act 1989.

Safeguarding children - request for a service (southampton.gov.uk)

These are children (including disabled children) who are unlikely to meet a reasonable standard of health and development unless provided with services.

Child Protection referrals: Referral for a social work service will be made by way of a referral to the Children's Resource Service/ MASH team for children who are likely to be assessed as being a child in need under section 47 of the Children Act 1989.

Worried about a child? – <u>Southampton Safeguarding Children Partnership (southamptonscp.org.uk)</u> If the initial referral is made by telephone, the DSL will confirm the referral in writing to Children's Services within 24 hours using the Common Assessment Framework (CAF).



If no response or acknowledgment is received within three working days, the DSL will contact Children's Services again. The DSL will agree with the recipient of the referral what the child and parents will be told, by whom and when.

If a safeguarding referral is made to social services, they will determine the need for a case conference. Case Conferences may be held within eight working days of the decision; they offer the opportunity to share information and to work together to formulate a plan of action. Staff are expected to attend, participate and/or provide a written report in all case conferences and meetings held under the LA guidelines.

In taking this action the DSL will be careful to:

- ensure that the school will not investigate concerns but refer them to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO), Children's Services or Police
- respect the wishes of the complainant's parents, provided they have no interest which is in conflict with the pupil's best interests and that they are properly informed.

Again, it may be necessary, after all appropriate consultation, to override parental wishes in some circumstances. If the DSL is concerned that disclosing information to parents would put a child at risk, he or she will take further advice from the relevant professionals before making a decision to disclose.

- respect duties of confidentiality, so far as applicable.
- ensure that a child's interests are paramount.
- ensure that, if there is room for doubt as to whether a referral to Children's Services should be made, the DSL will consult the LADO, or other appropriate professionals on a no names basis without identifying the pupil. However, as soon as sufficient concern exists that a child may be at risk of significant harm, a referral will be made as soon as possible, within a maximum of 24 hours.

Hope Community School respects the need to share only relevant information with safeguarding professionals, along with the balance of confidentiality and the need to safeguard a child. You may request our Information Sharing Policy for further information.

4.4 How we respond to allegations against pupils

A pupil against whom an allegation of abuse has been made may be suspended from the School and the School's policy on behaviour, discipline and sanctions will apply.

The School will take advice from Children's Services or the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) as appropriate on such allegations and will take all appropriate action to ensure the safety and welfare of all pupils involved, including the pupil or pupils accused of abuse. If it is necessary for a pupil to be interviewed by the police in relation to allegations of abuse, the School will ensure that, subject to the advice of Children's Services or the LADO, parents are informed as soon as possible and that the pupil is supported during the interview by an appropriate adult. In the case of pupils whose parents are abroad, the pupil's Guardian will be requested to provide support to the pupil and to accommodate him/her if it is necessary to suspend him/her.



If a child is suspended from school as a result of an allegation of abuse, the Trust Board will be informed as soon as practicable.

4.5 How we respond to concerns regarding staff or volunteers

All allegations of abuse of children by those who work with children must be taken seriously. Allegations against any person who works with children, whether in a paid or unpaid capacity, cover a wide range of circumstances, and may arise from a number of sources (e.g. a report from a child, a concern raised by another adult in the organisation, or a complaint by a parent). It may also arise in the context of the member of staff and their life outside work or at home.

To reduce the risk of inappropriate or unprofessional behaviour towards children, all staff and volunteers must be aware of safer working practice and must be familiar with the Government document 'Guidance for Safer Working Practice for Adults who work with Children and Young People in Education Settings'.

Where there is an allegation about a supply teacher (see paragraphs 374- 376), the KCSIE 2023 guidance says, 'Whilst schools and colleges are not the employer of supply teachers, they should ensure allegations are dealt with properly. 'In no circumstances should a school or college decide to cease to use a supply teacher due to safeguarding concerns, without finding out the facts and liaising with the local authority designated officer (LADO) to determine a suitable outcome' (paragraph 374). 'The school or college will usually take the lead [in any investigation] because agencies do not have direct access to children or other school staff, so they will not be able to collect the facts when an allegation is made, nor do they have all the relevant information required by the LADO as part of the referral process.' (paragraph 375)

Schools and colleges may receive an allegation relating to an incident that happened when an individual or organisation was using their school premises for the purposes of running activities for children (for example community groups, sports associations, or service providers that run extra-curricular activities). As with any safeguarding allegation, schools and colleges should follow their safeguarding policies and procedures, including informing the LADO. (Annex F DfE 20023).

A concern, sometimes referred to as an allegation, is any information which indicates that a member of staff/volunteer may have failed to meet the requirements set out in the staff behaviour (code of conduct) policy, or may have:

- Behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child;
- Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child;
- Behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates he or she would pose a risk of harm if they work regularly or closely with children.
- Behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to work with children.

This applies to any child the member of staff/volunteer has contact with in their personal, professional or community life. These points, drawn from Keeping Children Safe in Education (DfE, 2023), represent the Southampton Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP) threshold for position of trust strategy meetings.



All members of staff/volunteers must report any such concerns to the Designated Safeguarding Lead (or in his/her absence to the Deputy DSL), unless the concern relates to these members of staff (in which case they should report directly to the Safeguarding Local Governor – Paul Woodman). Failure to report it in accordance with procedures is a potential disciplinary matter.

The person to whom a concern or allegation is reported must take the matter seriously, keep an open mind, and must:

- Find time and, if necessary, a suitable place to listen to the person's concerns or allegations
- Listen to what is being said without displaying shock or disbelief
- Not make false promises which may not be able to be fulfilled and do not promise confidentiality. If the person asks that information is kept secret, it is important that you tell the person that you cannot promise complete confidentiality
- Allow the person to talk freely. Do not cross examine, interview, or probe
- Listen, only asking questions when necessary to clarify
- Not criticise the alleged perpetrator
- Stress that it was the right thing to share the concerns
- Explain what has to be done next and who has to be told
- Make records that are factual, accurate and relevant and avoid subjective judgements. It is not the school's responsibility to 'check out' what any child tells, nor should any abuser be questioned
- Sign and date the record of the disclosure.

The member of staff must provide the Designated Safeguarding Lead (or in their absence, a Deputy) with a signed, dated written record of their concerns, using the agreed school concern pro forma, without delay. The DSL or Deputy DSL receiving the concern/allegation must not unilaterally determine its validity and must report the concern/allegation to the Principal immediately. The Principal will not investigate the concern itself, or take written or detailed statements, but will assess whether the concern meets any of the three criteria set out in the section above. If any of the criteria are met, then the Principal must contact the LADO (Education) within one working day and provide the LADO with written confirmation of the concern.

If the concern relates to an allegation against a member of staff it will be referred to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).

Phone: 02380915535 E-mail: <u>LADO@southampton.gov.uk</u>

The Principal shall, as soon as possible, following briefing from the LADO inform the subject of the concern. If concern is raised regarding the Principal, then the Local Governor responsible for Safeguarding will be contacted, Paul Woodman.



4.6 Confidentiality and Information Sharing GDPR May 2018 Data Protection legislation 2018

Information sharing is vital in identifying and tackling all forms of abuse and neglect, and in promoting children's welfare, including their educational outcomes. The School has clear powers to share, hold and use information for these purposes. School and college staff should be proactive in sharing information as early as possible to help identify, assess and respond to risks or concerns about the safety and welfare of children, whether this is when problems are first emerging, or where a child is already known to the local authority children's social care.

- All information obtained by school staff about a pupil and their family is confidential and can only be shared with other professionals and agencies with the family's consent, however in cases such as initial multi-agency strategy meetings; the DSL needs to record what was shared, with whom, when and why it was shared in the best interests of the child.
- If the child is under 12, consent to share information about them must be obtained from their parents or carers. Young people aged 12 to 15 may give their own consent to information sharing if they have sufficient understanding of the issues. Young people aged 16 and over are able to give their own consent.
- Where a child is at risk of suffering significant harm, schools and colleges have a legal duty to share this information with FSC and make appropriate referrals. Equally, where a child is subject to a child protection investigation, schools and colleges must share any information about the child requested by FSC.
- Parental consent to making a child protection referral should be sought but if withheld, the referral must still be made, and parents made aware of this.
- Before taking this step, the school should consider the proportionality of the disclosure against non-disclosure; is the duty of confidentiality overridden by the need to safeguard the child?
- Parental consent to refer need not be sought if seeking consent is likely to cause further harm to the child, interfere with a criminal investigation or cause undue delay in taking action to protect the child. However, schools should discuss with the MASH social worker to gain advice on whether this course of action should be taken.
- Only relevant information should be disclosed, and only to those professionals who need to know. Staff should consider the purpose of the disclosure and remind recipients that the information is confidential and only to be used for the stated purpose.
- In the event that a child makes a disclosure of neglect or abuse, staff cannot guarantee them confidentiality, but must explain why they have to pass the information on, to whom and what will happen as a result. Parents should also be made aware of the school/college's duty to share information.
- Staff should discuss any concerns or difficulties around confidentiality or information sharing with the designated leader or seek advice from the MASH.
- practitioners in a strategy discussion or the initial evaluation of the case should share all
 relevant information they have about the person who is the subject of the allegation, and
 about the alleged victim. Fears about sharing information must not be allowed to stand in
 the way of the need to promote the welfare and protect the safety of children.



Children's child protection records

- Child protection records relating to pupils are highly confidential and will be kept in a designated welfare file separate from the pupil's education records. These records will be securely held within the school.
- The designated leader is responsible for ensuring that records are accurate, up to date and that recording is of a high standard.
- All information should be recorded on My Concern and all records will be dated as to the date and time of the incident
- Records should show: what the concerns were; what action was taken to refer on concerns or manage risk within the school; whether any follow-up action was taken; how and why decisions were made; how communication to home was achieved and by whom and when
- Any incidents, disclosures or signs of neglect or abuse should be fully recorded with dates, times and locations. Records should also include a note of what action was taken.
- In event of an incident causing concern for the child's welfare, reports will be written by all staff involved and an investigation will take place with the children, if appropriate by the designated leaders.

Taking photos or images https://ico.org.uk/for-the-public/schools/photos

- As a school we will seek consent from the parent of a pupil and from teachers and other adults before taking and publishing photographs or videos that contain images that are sufficiently detailed to identify the individual in school publications, printed media or on electronic publications. We will not seek consent for photos where you would not be able to identify the individual.
- We will seek consent for the period the pupil remains registered with us and, unless we have specific written permission we will remove photographs after a child (or teacher) appearing in them leaves the school or if consent is withdrawn.
- Photographs will only be taken on school owned equipment and stored on the school network. No images of pupils will be taken or stored on privately owned equipment by staff members.



5: Staff

5.1 How we recruit staff

The School will comply with the guidance set out in Part 3, Safer recruitment, of KCSIE 2023. Although not a statutory requirement, at least one member of every appointment panel will have gained accreditation through Safer Recruitment training. Staff recruitment will be undertaken in accordance with current government guidance.

Disqualification by Association The school previously implemented the Childcare (Disqualification) Regulations 2009 by ensuring that staff who are disqualified by association because they live in the same household as a person disqualified under the Childcare Act 2006 are not able to work within the school. However, an update in Aug 2018 of the statutory guidance Disqualification under the Childcare Act 2006 removed disqualification of association for individuals working in child care in non-domestic settings e.g. Schools / Nurseries. Please see Appendix 2 for further information.

- All applicants will be vetted. This will include checking the personal details, qualifications, references, eligibility to work in the UK, medical fitness and a check against the barred list.
- The NCTL's Teacher Services system (previously known as the Employer Access Service) now provides restriction information about teachers from the European Economic Area (EEA), and these checks must be recorded for staff from these countries;

and

- The Prohibition from teaching check must be completed for everyone engaged in 'teaching work', whether a qualified teacher or not; and recorded on the Single Central Record.
- Contractors and volunteers will be required to have relevant checks in place where there is an opportunity for contact with children. Such requirements will form part of any contractual arrangements with third parties. Contractors to the school are asked to present evidence of DBS on arrival and we will also check that the person presenting at the school, is the same person that the agency has provided the vetting checks for.
- All local governors will have enhanced DBS checks carried out as required under Keeping Children Safe in Education 2020.
- All applicants' criminal records will be checked through the DBS.
- The School will hold a single central record of employees and agency staff working at the School which sets out the checks undertaken and the relevant dates as a minimum.
- No member of staff will be appointed until all relevant checks have been completed.

5.2 Training

See section 1.4.

5.3 Whistle blowing

We recognise that children cannot be expected to raise concerns in an environment where staff fail to do so.

All staff should be aware of their duty to raise concerns about the attitude or actions of colleagues.



Should a teacher have concerns regarding how safeguarding issues are being managed they can initially contact the Chair of the Local Governing Body – Billy Kennedy. They also have the right to contact the NSPCC Whistleblowing helpline number: 0800 028 0285 to discuss from 8am to 8pm Monday to Friday or email <u>help@nspcc.org.uk</u>. For further information, please refer to our Whistleblowing Policy.



Appendix 1: Southampton Safeguarding contacts and numbers:

Early Years and Childcare	Debs Cook	023 80833913
Team Designated	/Anne Downie	/02380834252
Safeguarding Lead:		702000001202
Southampton Children's		
Advice and Duty Service		023 80832300
	Out of Hours	03000 41 91 91
MASH Public Number:		023 80833336
MASH Opening Hours:	Monday – Thursday	8.30am – 5pm
	Friday	8.30am – 4.30pm
MASH Out of Hours		
Emergency Duty Team:		023 80233344
Early Years and Childcare	Anne Downie	023 80834252
Team Manager:		07917227167
	LADO@southampton.gov.uk	023 80915539
Local Authority Designated		07789616092
Officer:		
CSE Hub	scobub@coutbomaton.cov.uk	023 80834816
	csehub@southampton.gov.uk	025 80854810
Safeguarding Partnership	Email:	023 8083 2995
	safeguarding.partnershipsteam@southampton.	023 8083 3336
	gov.uk	
	Website: <u>https://southamptonscp.org.uk</u>	
Prevent		Anti -Terrorism
		Hotline:
(Radicalisation, Terrorism	prevent.engagement@hampshire.pnn.police.u	
prevention)	<u>k</u>	0800 789 321
Solent Healthcare		023 80716671
Safeguarding Team:		0300 123 6662
Ambulance and Police		999
Service:		
Helplines		
NSPCC		0800 800 500
Childline		0800 1111
FGM		0800 028 3550
Barnardo's		01489 796684



Appendix 2: Safer Recruitment Policy

We will record all information on the checks carried out in the school's single central record (SCR). Copies of these checks, where appropriate, will be held in individuals' personnel files. We follow requirements and best practice in retaining copies of these checks, as set out below.

Appointing new staff

When appointing new staff, we will:

- Verify their identity
- Obtain (via the applicant) an enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) certificate, including barred list information for those who will be engaging in regulated activity (see definition below). We will not keep a copy of this for longer than 6 months
- Obtain a separate barred list check if they will start work in regulated activity before the DBS certificate is available
- Verify their mental and physical fitness to carry out their work responsibilities
- Verify their right to work in the UK. We will keep a copy of this verification for the duration of the member of staff's employment and for 2 years afterwards
- Verify their professional qualifications, as appropriate
- Ensure they are not subject to a prohibition order if they are employed to be a teacher
- Carry out further additional checks, as appropriate, on candidates who have lived or worked outside of the UK, including (where relevant) any teacher sanctions or restrictions imposed by a European Economic Area professional regulating authority, and criminal records checks or their equivalent
- Check that candidates taking up a management position are not subject to a prohibition from management (section 128) direction made by the secretary of state
- Ask for written information about previous employment history and check that information is not contradictory or incomplete

We will seek references on all short-listed candidates, including internal candidates, before interview. We will scrutinise these and resolve any concerns before confirming appointments.

We will ensure that appropriate checks are carried out to ensure that individuals are not disqualified under the Childcare Disqualification (Regulations) 2009 and Childcare Act 2006.

Where we take a decision that an individual falls outside of the scope of these regulations and we do not carry out such checks, we will retain a record of our assessment on the individual's personnel file. This will include our evaluation of any risks and control measures put in place, and any advice sought.

Regulated activity means a person who will be:

- Responsible, on a regular basis in a school or college, for teaching, training, instructing, caring for or supervising children
- Carrying out paid, or unsupervised unpaid, work regularly in a school or college where that work provides an opportunity for contact with children



• Engaging in intimate or personal care or overnight activity, even if this happens only once and regardless of whether they are supervised or not

Existing staff

If we have concerns about an existing member of staff's suitability to work with children, we will carry out all the relevant checks as if the individual was a new member of staff. We will also do this if an individual moves from a post that is not regulated activity to one that is. We will refer to the DBS anyone who has harmed, or poses a risk of harm, to a child or vulnerable adult:

- Where the 'harm test' is satisfied in respect of the individual (i.e. that no action or inaction occurred but the present risk that it could was significant)
- Where the individual has received a caution or conviction for a relevant offence
- If there is reason to believe that the individual has committed a listed relevant offence, under the <u>Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (Prescribed Criteria and Miscellaneous</u> <u>Provisions) Regulations 2009</u>
- If the individual has been removed from working in regulated activity (paid or unpaid) or would have been removed if they had not left

Agency and third-party staff

We will obtain written notification from any agency or third-party organisation that it has carried out the necessary safer recruitment checks that we would otherwise perform. We will also check that the person presenting themselves for work is the same person on whom the checks have been made.

Contractors

We will ensure that any contractor, or any employee of the contractor, who is to work at the school has had the appropriate level of DBS check. This will be:

- An enhanced DBS check with barred list information for contractors engaging in regulated activity
- An enhanced DBS check, not including barred list information, for all other contractors who are not in regulated activity but whose work provides them with an opportunity for regular contact with children

We will obtain the DBS check for self-employed contractors. We will not keep copies of such checks for longer than 6 months.

Contractors who have not had any checks will not be allowed to work unsupervised or engage in regulated activity under any circumstances.

We will check the identity of all contractors and their staff on arrival at the school.

Trainee/student teachers

Where applicants for initial teacher training are salaried by us, we will ensure that all necessary checks are carried out.

Where trainee teachers are fee-funded, we will obtain written confirmation from the training provider that necessary checks have been carried out and that the trainee has been judged by the provider to be suitable to work with children.

In both cases, this includes checks to ensure that individuals are not disqualified under the Childcare Disqualification (Regulations) 2009 and Childcare Act 2006.

Volunteers



We will:

- Never leave an unchecked volunteer unsupervised or allow them to work in regulated activity
- Obtain an enhanced DBS check with barred list information for all volunteers who are new to working in regulated activity
- Obtain an enhanced DBS check without barred list information for all volunteers who are not in regulated activity, but who have an opportunity to come into contact with children on a regular basis, for example, supervised volunteers
- Carry out a risk assessment when deciding whether to seek an enhanced DBS check for any volunteers not engaging in regulated activity
- Ensure that appropriate checks are carried out to ensure that individuals are not disqualified. under the Childcare Disqualification (Regulations) 2009 and Childcare Act 2006. In Aug 2018 of the statutory guidance Disqualification under the Childcare Act 2006 removed disqualification of association for individuals working in child care in non-domestic settings e.g. Schools / Nurseries. Where we decide that an individual falls outside of the scope of these regulations and we do not carry out such checks, we will retain a record of our assessment. This will include our evaluation of any risks and control measures put in place, and any advice sought

Governors

All governors, trustees and local governors will have an enhanced DBS check without barred list information. They will have an enhanced DBS check with barred list information if working in regulated activity.

The chair of the board of trustees will have their DBS check countersigned by the secretary of state.

All trustees, proprietors and local governors will have the following checks:

- Section 128 direction
- Right to work in the UK
- Other checks deemed necessary if they have lived or worked outside the UK

Adults who supervise pupils on work experience

When organising work experience, we will ensure that policies and procedures are in place to protect children from harm. We will also consider whether it is necessary for barred list checks to be carried out on the individuals who supervise a pupil under 16 on work experience. This will depend on the specific circumstances of the work experience, including the nature of the supervision, the frequency of the activity being supervised, and whether the work is regulated activity.

Pupils staying with host families

Where the school makes arrangements for pupils to be provided with care and accommodation by a host family to which they are not related (for example, during a foreign exchange visit), we will request enhanced DBS checks with barred list information on those people. Where the school is organising such hosting arrangements overseas and host families cannot be checked in the same way, we will work with our partner schools abroad to ensure that similar assurances are undertaken prior to the visit.



Appendix 3: BRIEFING SHEET FOR TEMPORARY AND SUPPLY STAFF

Briefing sheet for temporary and supply staff

For supply staff and those on short contracts.

While working in Hope Community School, you have a duty of care towards the children/pupils here. This means that at all times you should act in a way that is consistent with their safety and welfare.

In addition, if at any time you have a concern about a child or young person, particularly if you think they may be at risk of abuse or neglect, it is your responsibility to share that concern with the school designated safeguarding lead (DSL), who is Steve Wright (Head Teacher) or the Deputy DSLs Susannah Woodman and Claire Rodgers.

This is not an exhaustive list, but you may have become concerned as a result of:

· observing a physical injury, which you think may have been non-accidental

 \cdot observing something in the appearance of a child or young person which suggests they are not being sufficiently well cared for

· observing behaviour that leads you to be concerned about a child or young person

· a child or young person telling you that they have been subjected to some form of abuse.

In any of the circumstances listed here, you must write down what you saw or heard, date and sign your account, and give it to the DSL. This may be the beginning of a legal process – it is important to understand that legal action against a perpetrator can be seriously damaged by any suggestion that the child has been led in any way.

If a child talks to you about abuse, you should follow these guidelines:

• Rather than directly questioning the child, just listen and be supportive. Never stop a child who is freely recalling significant events, but don't push the child to tell you more than they wish

 \cdot Make it clear that you may need to pass on information to staff in other agencies who may be able to help – do not promise confidentiality. You are obliged to share any information relating to abuse or neglect

• Write an account of the conversation immediately, as close to verbatim as possible. Put the date and timings on it, and mention anyone else who was present. Then sign it and give your record to the designated person/child protection officer, who should contact children's social care if appropriate.

The school has a policy on safeguarding children and young people which you can find, together with the local procedures to be followed by all staff. Remember, if you have a concern, discuss it with the DSL.



Hope Community School Code of Conduct

Introduction

As an employer, New Generation Schools Trust is required to set out a Code of Conduct for all employees.

Our school's core values are Adventure, Creativity, Openness and Excellence underpinned by a Christian ethos. It is expected all adults will demonstrate these values throughout each working day and reflect our "inclusive culture built on love and respect for all."

All communication and interaction between members of the school community - staff, children, parents, carers and visitors must reflect this ethos. Professionalism must be maintained at all times.

In addition, staff are required to develop and maintain the Christian character of the School. Staff are to have regard to the Christian ethos of the School and not do anything in any way detrimental or prejudicial to the interests of the same at any time, at work or at home.

All staff employed under Teachers' Terms and Conditions of Employment have a statutory obligation to adhere to the 'Teachers' Standards 2012' and in relation to this policy, Part 2 of the Teachers' Standards - Personal and Professional Conduct.

Staff should be aware that a failure to comply with the following Code of Conduct could result in disciplinary action, including dismissal.

1. Purpose, Scope and Principles

A Code of Conduct is designed to give clear guidance on the standards of behaviour all school staff are expected to observe, and the school should notify staff of this code and the expectations therein. School staff are in a unique position of influence and must adhere to behaviour that models the highest possible standards for all the children within the school. As a member of a school community, each employee has an individual responsibility to maintain their reputation and the reputation of the school, whether inside or outside working hours.

2. Setting an example

2.1 All staff who work at Hope set examples of behaviour and conduct which can be copied by our children. All staff must, therefore, demonstrate the highest standards of conduct in order to encourage our children to do the same.

2.2 All staff must also avoid putting themselves at risk of allegations of abusive or unprofessional conduct.

2.3 All staff must dress modestly for school – appropriate in length (ensuring that hem-line and neckline are not too revealing) casual sportswear, jeans and casual denim are not permitted during a normal school working day. Footwear must be similarly appropriate, for example flip-flops or stiletto heeled shoes are not permitted due to possible injury. Tattoos must be covered as much as possible and body and facial piercings should be covered.

2.4 Staff should behave in a positive way despite any personal problems that they may have, especially in front of the children.



2.5 Smoking is not permitted anywhere on the school site. Staff must not attend work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs and will be removed from the school site if they do so.

2.6 Staff are expected to be punctual for work and within the school timetable. This is a contractual requirement but also respectful of others and demonstrates good personal organisation to the children.

3. Working practices

3.1 All adults must work within the school's policies and practices, so that what happens is consistent with what has been agreed between all members of staff and the Local Governing Body.

3.2 Staff should ensure that refreshments are taken at suitable points of the day, for example tea or coffee should be sought at break time or lunch time (if on duty, before or after break). Sealed containers should be used in class. They should not be carried around the school, for example into collective worship or on duty.

3.3 It is essential to ensure accurate logging in and out for every visit to the school using the inventory system to ensure the safety of all adults in the case of an evacuation of the site and to monitor good timekeeping, should it be required.

3.4 One of Hope Community School's unique elements is that of our dining arrangements. It is expected that staff eat lunch with the children at least once a week for part time staff and twice a week for full time staff, to demonstrate appropriate expectations and fulfil our vision of family dining.

4. Language and Communication

4.1 All adults must use appropriate standard English at all times and never inappropriate or offensive language.

4.2 When adults speak to children they will:

- use a positive statement rather than a negative one so that children can learn what is expected of them in any situation.
- use a calm tone of voice at all times, to explain something to or instruct the children, so that they can follow our words without feeling threatened or uncomfortable.

• avoid using sarcastic words or phrases as these demean children and prevent them from developing high self-esteem.

• use positive language when dealing with behaviour and avoid the negative. Remember a child is not naughty but behaviour can be.

4.3 All adults in school should speak respectfully to other adults at all times, even if they disagree.

5. Safeguarding Children

5.1 This document has been written in consultation with KCSIE 2023. Staff have a duty to safeguard children from:

- physical abuse
- sexual abuse
- emotional abuse



• neglect



- radicalisation and extremism
- child sexual exploitation (CSE) and Child criminal exploitation (CCE)

5.2 The duty to safeguard children includes the duty to report concerns about a child to the school's Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) for Child Protection.

5.3 The school's DSL is Steve Wright and our Deputies are Susannah Woodman and Claire Rodgers

5.4 Staff are provided with personal copies of the school's Safeguarding Policy and Whistleblowing Procedure and must familiarise themselves with these documents. Copies of these are available from the staff room.

5.5 Staff must understand that EVERYONE has a responsibility for safeguarding.

5.6 Staff must not demean or undermine children, their parents or carers, or colleagues.

5.7 Staff must take the upmost care of children under their supervision with the aim of ensuring their safety and welfare.

5.8 Staff must keep themselves up to date with online safety issues and ensure that children are aware of "online" dangers through RSHE sessions, collective worship, mini-lessons before any activity requiring the use of the internet.

5.9 Staff must not use their mobile phone as a camera in school. Any photograph/video must be taken using school equipment. Staff must only save images on school equipment (See ICT Acceptable Use Policy).

5.9i Staff who are in contact with children should not use their mobile phones in front of children during their directed hours / paid hours of employment. Outside of these times, mobile phones should only be used in areas of the school where children are not present (see Staff Handbook).

6. Child Development

6.1 Staff must comply with school policies and procedures that support the well-being and development of children.

6.2 Staff must co-operate and collaborate with colleagues and with external agencies where necessary to support the development of children.

6.3 Staff must follow reasonable instructions that support the development of children.

7. Honesty and Integrity

7.1 Staff must maintain the highest standards of honesty and integrity in their work. This includes the handling and claiming of money and the use of school property and facilities.

7.2 All staff must comply with the Bribery Act 2010. A person may be guilty of an offence of bribery under this act if they offer, promise or give financial advantage or other advantage to someone; or if they request, agree or accept, or receive a bribe from another person. If you believe that a person has failed to comply with the Bribery Act, you should refer to the Whistleblowing procedure for schools.

7.3 Gifts from suppliers or associates of the school must be declared to the Principal, or to the Chair of the Local Governing Body, if the Principal is the recipient, with the exception of "one off" token gifts from students or parents. Personal gifts from individual members of staff to students are inappropriate and could be misinterpreted.



8. Conduct Outside Work

8.1 Staff must not engage in conduct outside work which could seriously damage the reputation and standing of the school or the employee's own reputation or the reputation of other members of the school community. Any such conduct could lead to dismissal. Please check your contract for further information.

8.2 In particular, criminal offences that involve violence or possession or use of illegal drugs or sexual misconduct are likely to be regarded as unacceptable and could lead to dismissal.

8.3 Staff must exercise caution when using information technology and be aware of the risks to themselves and others, e.g. staff must NEVER communicate with children using social media

8.4 Staff must not engage in inappropriate use of social network sites which may bring themselves, the school, school community or employer into disrepute.

8.5 Staff must only use their school email account or school learning platform account when communicating electronically with children, parents and colleagues.

8.6 During the appointment you shall not, except as a representative of the School or with the prior written approval of the Board of Directors or the Governing Body, provide any form of private tuition to any prospective, current or former pupil or parent of the School.

8.7 Staff shall not, except as a representative of the School or with the prior written approval of the Board of Directors or the Governing Body, be directly or indirectly engaged, concerned or have any financial interest in any capacity in any other business, trade, profession or occupation (or the setting up of any business, trade, profession or occupation) (See Contract of Employment).

8.8 Staff may undertake voluntary work outside school, provided that it does not conflict with the interests of the school and is not to a level which may contravene the working time regulations, bring the school, school community or employer into disrepute or affect an individual's work performance. (See Contract of Employment).

8.9 All members of staff must declare any business interests outside of school that may be connected either to the supply of goods / services to the school or be rewarded through association with the school.

9. Confidentiality

9.1 Where staff have access to confidential information about children or their parents or carers, staff must not reveal such information except to those colleagues who have a professional role in relation to the child.

9.2 Where staff have access to confidential information about other staff members, staff must not reveal such information to any other person.

9.2 All staff are likely at some point to witness actions which need to be confidential. For example, where a child is bullied by another child (or by a member of staff), this needs to be reported and dealt with in accordance with the appropriate school procedure. It must not be discussed outside the school, including with the child's parent or carer, nor with colleagues in the school except with a senior member of staff with the appropriate role and authority to deal with the matter.

9.3 However, staff have an obligation to share with their manager or the school's Designated Safeguarding Lead any information which gives rise to concern about the safety or welfare of a



child. Staff must never promise a child that they will not act on information that they are told by the child.

10. Disciplinary action

10.1 All staff need to recognise that failure to meet these standards of behaviour and conduct may result in disciplinary action, including dismissal.

11. Interpersonal relationships

11.1 All adults in the school should:

- avoid workplace gossip and negativity as it breeds resentment and becomes a roadblock to effective communication and collaboration. We all have a duty to take active steps to divert conversations away from this if we come across it.
- work at their relationships, resolving conflicts, being kind and supporting each other to model positive relationships to our children.
- work as part of a team, contributing as well as learning from others and helping to build up a strong workforce so that we can provide the best possible learning opportunities for the children.
- ensure appropriate relationships with parents, staff should at all times be friendly but professional.
- ensure professional and personal boundaries are secure. Within adult to adult relationships physical contact should be kept to a minimum, within child to adult relationships touch should be used appropriately and never in anger.
- treat everyone equally with respect.

Appendix 1 - from Teachers' Standards 2012 (updated 2013) (DfE)

PERSONAL AND PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

A teacher is expected to demonstrate consistently high standards of personal and professional conduct. The following statements define the behaviour and attitudes which set the required standard for conduct throughout a teacher's career.

- Teachers uphold public trust in the profession and maintain high standards of ethics and behaviour, within and outside school, by:
- treating children with dignity, building relationships rooted in mutual respect and at all times observing proper boundaries appropriate to a teacher's professional position
- having regard for the need to safeguard children' well-being, in accordance with statutory provisions
- showing tolerance of and respect for the rights of others
- not undermining fundamental British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual respect and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs
- ensuring that personal beliefs are not expressed in ways which exploit children' vulnerability or might lead them to break the law.



- Teachers must have proper and professional regard for the ethos, policies and practices of the school in which they teach and maintain high standards in their own attendance and punctuality.
- Teachers must have an understanding of, and always act within, the statutory frameworks which set out their professional duties and responsibilities.

The full document can be read <u>here.</u>

Appendix 5: Online safety

The use of technology has become a significant component of many safeguarding issues. Child sexual exploitation; radicalisation; sexual predation: technology often provides the platform that facilitates harm. An effective approach to online safety empowers a school or college to protect and educate the whole school or college community in their use of technology and establishes mechanisms to identify, intervene in, and escalate any incident where appropriate. The breadth of issues classified within online safety is considerable, but can be categorised into three areas of risk:

• content: being exposed to illegal, inappropriate or harmful material; for example, pornography, fake news, racist or radical and extremist views;

• contact: being subjected to harmful online interaction with other users; for example, commercial advertising as well as adults posing as children or young adults; and

 conduct: personal online behaviour that increases the likelihood of, or causes, harm; for example, making, sending and receiving explicit images, or online bullying

Staff should teach about online safety.

Education at home

Where children are being asked to learn online at home the department has provided advice to support schools and colleges do so safely: safeguarding-in-schools-colleges and-other-providers and safeguarding-and-remote-education.

Filtering & Monitoring online systems: Guidance signposts the Department for Education's new filtering and monitoring standards (DfE, 2023b), which support schools to have effective systems in place. <u>Meeting digital and technology standards in schools and colleges - Filtering and monitoring standards for schools and colleges - Guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)</u>

HCS provide a safe environment to learn and work, including when online. Filtering and monitoring are both important parts of safeguarding pupils and staff from potentially harmful and inappropriate online material. The designated safeguarding lead will take lead responsibility for understanding the filtering and monitoring systems and processes in place to protect pupils.

For our full Filtering & Monitoring Policy please refer to our main policies.